
 

  

 

 

NATIONAL GRIEVANCE 

NG-09/24/21 

 

Date: September 24, 2021 

 

To: Ophelia Ann Vicks 

Acting Executive Director 

Office of Labor-Management Relations 

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

ophelia.vicks@va.gov 

VALMRLitigation@va.gov 

Sent via electronic mail only 

 

From: Christopher Zatratz, Staff Counsel, National Veterans Affairs Council (#53) (“NVAC”), 

American Federation of Government Employees, AFL-CIO (“AFGE”) 

 

RE:    National Grievance against the Department of Veterans Affairs for failing to notify 

and bargain with NVAC concerning the realignment of Clinical Contact Centers 

 

STATEMENT OF CHARGES 

 

Pursuant to the provisions of Article 43, Section 11 of the Master Agreement Between the 

Department of Veterans Affairs and the American Federation of Government Employees (2011) 

(“MCBA” or “Master Agreement”), the American Federation of Government Employees/National 

Veterans Affairs Council (“the Union”) is filing this National Grievance against you and all other 

associated officials and/or individuals acting as agents on behalf of the Department of Veterans 

Affairs (“Department”) for failing to notify and bargain with NVAC concerning the realignment 

of Clinical Contact Centers. To date, the Department has failed to remedy this violation and as 

such continues to violate the MCBA and federal law. 

 

Specifically, the Department violated Articles 1, 2, 3, 47, and 49 of the MCBA; 5 U.S.C. 

§7116(a); 5 C.F.R. §2422.34(a); and any and all other relevant articles, laws, regulations, customs, 

and past practices not herein specified. The Union specifically reserves the right to supplement 

this grievance based upon the discovery of new evidence or information of which it is not presently 

aware, or otherwise, as necessary. 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 

Background 

 

The Department’s Clinical Contact Centers (“CCCs”) (also known as VA Health 

Connect) “provide care and services to all Veterans enrolled for health care within the CCC’s 

mailto:ophelia.vicks@va.gov
mailto:VALMRLitigation@va.gov
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designated geographic areas.” Attachment A.1 On July 2, 2021, following reports of information 

received from the field, the Union submitted a demand to bargain to the Department concerning 

the Veterans Health Administration’s VISNs Clinical Contact Center initiatives. Attachment B.2 

The parties have yet to negotiate this matter. On September 2, 2021, the Union received notice 

from the Department that “the VA Health Connect Contact Center will be consolidated and 

realigned to report to the Capitol Health Care Network (VISN 5).” Attachment C.3 The 

Department has also announced the realignment of CCCs at additional VISNs.4 According to 

information produced by the Department, it plans to complete the realignment of CCCs at every 

VISN across the country by 2022. See Attachment D.5 This realignment will affect thousands of 

bargaining unit employees across the country.  

 

Article 47, Section 4(B) of the MCBA requires the Department to notify the Union at the 

national level of recognition when a proposed change in personnel, policies, practices, or 

working conditions affects the interests of two or more local unions. Here, the Department’s 

realignment of CCCs is an agency-wide initiative affecting all 18 VISNs. See Attachment D. 

However, in plain violation of its obligations, the Department intentionally refused to notify the 

Union at the national level of recognition: 

 

“This would be very labor intensive and prevent expedience. It would also give the 

Unions dozens if not hundreds of individual points to negotiate or hammer out. Holding 

up the process at every single site or facility, instead of the single or handful actually 

effected.” 

 

Attachment E.6 

 

Articles 47 and 49 of the MCBA require the Department to bargain with the Union over 

changes to conditions of employment. Additionally, under section 7116(a)(1) and (5) of the 

Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute, the Union must be given adequate notice 

and a pre-implementation opportunity to bargain before the Department may lawfully implement 

changes in working conditions affecting unit employees. Here, the Department failed to provide 

adequate notice and the opportunity to bargain with the Union concerning the realignment of 

CCCs.  

 

What’s more, Article 1, Section 4 of the MCBA requires the Department to involve the 

Union before bargaining unit determination for position changes or the establishment of new 

positions. Here, the Union was not predecisionally involved in the Department’s realignment of 

CCCs. Instead, the Department merely notified certain AFGE Local Unions of its plan to realign 

CCCs. See Attachment C. Further, while a unit clarification petition is pending, Article 1, 

 

1 VHA Directive 1006.04. 
2 NVAC Demand to Bargain. 
3 VISN 5 Memo to AFGE Local 2198 regarding VA Health Connect Contact Center Realignment. 
4 Upon information and belief, affected VISNs include, but are not limited to, VISNs 6, 8, 10, 17, 19, and 21. The 
Union reserves its right to supplement this list, as needed. 
5 Assistant Under Secretary for Health for Operations’ Memo to VISN Directors regarding Clinical Contact Center 
Expectations and Next Steps. 
6 VA Health Connect Q&A with VA Central Office Labor Management Relations. 
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Section 4 of the MCBA requires the Department to keep the position within the bargaining unit if 

the position was previously within the bargaining unit. See also 5 C.F.R. §2422.34(a). Here, 

CCC employees are AFGE bargaining unit employees. Still, management officials are falsely 

claiming that impacted employees will be losing union representation.  

 

By failing to bargain and interfering with the right to representation, the Department 

committed an unfair labor practice under section 7116(a)(1) and (5) and violated its contractual 

duty to bargain under Articles 47 and 49 of the MCBA. In doing so, the Department also violated 

Article 2 of the MCBA, which requires the Department to comply with applicable federal 

statutes and regulations in the administration of matters covered by the MCBA. Finally, by 

failing to consult and negotiate in good faith with the Union, the Department is in violation of 

Article 3 of the MCBA, which encourages the Parties to maintain a cooperative labor-

management relationship that is based on mutual respect, open communication, consideration of 

each other’s views, and minimizing collective bargaining disputes. 

 

Violation 

 

By failing to fulfill its obligations, the Department violated, and continues to violate, the 

following: 

• Article 1 of the MCBA: requiring the Union’s predecisional involvement in the 

Department’s bargaining unit determinations for position changes and the establishment 

of new positions, encouraging Alternate Dispute Resolution, and requiring the position to 

remain in the bargaining until the FLRA issues a decision on the unit clarification 

petition; 

• Article 2 of the MCBA: requiring the Department to comply with all federal law and 

regulations; 

• Article 3 of the MCBA: requiring the Department to maintain an effective, cooperative 

labor-management relationship with the Union; 

• Articles 47 and 49 of the MCBA: requiring the Department to bargain with the Union 

over changes to conditions of employment; 

• 5 C.F.R. §2422.34(a): requiring the Department to maintain the status quo, honor existing 

agreements, and fulfill all other responsibilities while a representation proceeding is 

pending;  

• 5 U.S.C. §7116(a)(1) and (5): requiring the Department to consult and negotiate in good 

faith with the Union and not to interfere with the right to representation; 

• Any and all other relevant articles, laws, rules, regulations, customs, and past practices 

not herein specified. 

 

Remedies Requested 

 

To remedy the above violations, the Union asks that the Department do the following: 

 

1. To return to the status quo ante; 

2. To cease and desist further implementation of the realignment of CCCs; 

3. To cease and desist further violations of the MCBA, regulations, and federal law; 
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4. To fully comply with its contractual obligations under Articles 1, 2, 3, 47, and 49 of the 

MCBA, its statutory obligations under the Federal Service Labor-Management Relations 

Statute, and its regulatory obligations under 5 C.F.R. §2422.34(a); 

5. To post an electronic notice, signed by the VA Secretary, to all AFGE bargaining unit 

employees that the Department violated the law and that the Department will refrain from 

further violations of the law; 

6. To make-whole any Local Union affected by the Department’s violations, including but 

not limited to, the reimbursement of union dues not properly withheld; and 

7. To agree to any and all other remedies appropriate in this matter. 

 

Time Frame and Contact 

 

This is a National Grievance, and the time frame for resolution of this matter is not 

waived until the matter is resolved or settled. The undersigned is the designated representative 

for this grievance. If you have any questions regarding this National Grievance, please contact 

the undersigned at AFGE Office of the General Counsel. 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Christopher Zatratz 

Staff Counsel, National VA Council  

Office of the General Counsel 

AFGE, AFL-CIO 

80 F Street, NW 

Washington, DC 20001 

Tel: 202-639-6424 

Fax: 202-379-2928 

christopher.zatratz@afge.org 

 

 

cc: Alma L. Lee, President, AFGE/NVAC 

 William Wetmore, Chairperson, Grievance and Arbitration Committee, AFGE/NVAC 

 Thomas Dargon, Jr., Supervisory Attorney, AFGE/NVAC 

 Thomas McGuire, Deputy Director, VA/LMR 

 Roy Ferguson, Staff Director, VA/LMR 

 Donald Stephen, Director of Interventions & Training, VA/LMR 
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Department of Veterans Affairs VHA DIRECTIVE 1006.04
Veterans Health Administration Transmittal Sheet 
Washington, DC 20420 [DATE] 

CLINICAL CONTACT CENTERS 

1. REASON FOR ISSUE: This Veterans Health Administration (VHA) directive provides 
VHA policy for established Clinical Contact Centers (CCCs) to 
access to care by expanding the provision of virtual care and services. 

2. SUMMARY OF CONTENT: This directive establishes responsibilities and required 
services related to CCCs.

3. RELATED ISSUES: VHA Directive 1230(4), Outpatient Scheduling Processes and 
Procedures, dated July 15, 2016; VHA Directive 1231(1), Outpatient Practice 
Management, dated October 18, 2019; VHA Directive 1232(3), Consult Processes and 
Procedures, dated August 24, 2016. 

4. RESPONSIBLE OFFICE: The VHA Access Office (15ACC) is responsible for the 
content of this directive. Questions may be referred to the Executive Director, VHA 
Access Office at VHA15ACCOVACAction@va.gov. 

5. RESCISSIONS: None. 

6. RECERTIFICATION: This VHA directive is scheduled for recertification on or before 
the last working day of [DATE]. This VHA directive will continue to serve as national 
VHA policy until it is recertified or rescinded. 

 BY DIRECTION OF THE OFFICE OF 
 THE UNDER SECRETARY FOR HEALTH: 

 Renee Oshinski, MPA
 Assistant Under Secretary for Health 
 for Operations 

NOTE: All references herein to Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) and VHA 
documents incorporate by reference subsequent VA and VHA documents on the same 
or similar subject matter. 

DISTRIBUTION: Emailed to the VHA Publication Distribution List on [DATE]. 
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CLINICAL CONTACT CENTERS

1. PURPOSE 

This Veterans Health Administration (VHA) directive establishes responsibilities for 
Clinical Contact Centers (CCCs) and care provided to Veterans through VHA CCCs. 
CCCs provide care and services to all Veterans enrolled for health care within the 

designated geographic areas (e.g., Veterans Integrated Services Network(s) 
(VISNs) or consortia). This directive does not apply to national Department of Veterans 
Affairs (VA) contact centers (e.g., Veterans Crisis Line, Caregiver Support Line, 
National Contact Center for Homeless Veterans, Health Eligibility Center, National 
Community Care Contact Centers and Health Resource Center) or virtual care or 
services delivered unrelated to CCCs. AUTHORITY: 38 U.S.C § 7301(b). 

2. BACKGROUND 

a. VHA has undertaken a Clinical Contact Center Modernization (CCCM) effort to 
upgrade systems and improve processes and outcomes impacting Veteran access to 
high quality, timely and effective interactions via virtual contact modalities. This effort 
focuses on creating a cohesive system of dedicated CCCs at the VISN level or higher. 
For the purposes of this directive, CCCs include both VISN and consortium CCCs.

b. Funding for establishing and operating CCCs comes from General Purpose funds. 
The CCCM Guidebook 
methodology for establishing and operating CCCs. This means that a VISN will allocate 
funds for the CCC, before distributing remaining funds to the VA medical facilities. The 

ers standard items such as staffing and materials to support 
operations. The CCCM Guidebook can be found here: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-Clinical-Contact-
Centers.aspx. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not available to the public. 

c. CCCs deliver four core services: clinical triage, virtual clinic visits, clinical 
pharmacy services and pharmacy support, and scheduling and administrative support. 
NOTE: VHA Memorandum 2021-03-09, Veterans Integrated Services Network (VISN) 
Clinical Contact Center Expectations and Next Steps, dated March 11, 2021, requires 
all VISNs to implement a centralized CCC offering the four core services by December 
31, 2021. The memorandum can be found here:
https://vaww.va.gov/vhapublications/publications.cfm?Pub=3. This is an internal VA 
website that is not available to the public. 

d. CCC access and care goals include:

(1) Providing access 24 hours a day, 7 days a week to safe, timely and seamless 
virtual same-day care and support via phone, video, chat and email within VA Health 
Connect. 

(2) Ensuring CCC services include care coordination with other virtual and in-person 
VHA care and services. 
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(3) Promoting services that are clinically appropriate and meet needs.

(4) Ensuring consistent, high-quality metrics and continuous improvement related to 
Veteran experience, Veteran and employee satisfaction and health outcomes. 

(5) Supporting alternatives to face-to-face clinic visits, when appropriate and 
acceptable to the Veteran, to optimize service availability, timeliness and delivery. 

(6) Honoring Veteran choice for services, including use of benefits and services 
related to the VA MISSION Act of 2018.

(7) Achieving meaningful First Contact Resolution (FCR) whenever possible. 

3. DEFINITIONS 

a. Care Coordination. Care coordination is a system-wide approach to the 
deliberate organization of all Veteran care activities between two or more participants or 
systems to facilitate the appropriate delivery of health care services. It can include, but 
is not limited to, care management and case management. Within the VHA level of care 
coordination framework, care coordination falls within the basic level. 

b. Clinical Decision Support Tools. Clinical Decision Support Tools are the 
standardized national guidelines or algorithms utilized by clinical staff in a variety of 
settings to assist in the clinical decision-making process. 

c. Clinical Contact Center. A CCC, also known as VA Health Connect, is a 
coordinated system of diverse, dedicated, and VISN-aligned administrative and clinical 
professionals. These professionals are aligned under the VA Health Connect 
organizational chart. VHA enterprise-wide standardized processes, uniform 
technologies and strategies provide Veterans dedicated access to care and services 
virtually (e.g., via telephony, video, chat, email and other non-face-to-face contact 
modalities) to address acute and episodic care. CCCs provide access to administrative 
and clinical staff to deliver a range of health care services with 24 hours access. CCCs  
goal is to attain FCR through the provision of scheduling and 
administrative support, clinical triage, virtual clinic visits and clinical pharmacy services. 
CCCs serve as an extension of VA medical facility-based health care teams and work 
collaboratively to ensure continuity and care coordination utilizing clinical decision 
support tools. For the purposes of this directive, CCCs include both VISN and 
consortium CCCs. 

d. Clinical Triage. Clinical triage is the evaluation of a patient  symptoms or health 
concerns using enterprise-wide standardized decision support tools and critical thinking 
to determine a course of action. Within a CCC, clinical triage is conducted by 
Registered Nurses (RNs) and anyone with clinical credentials.

e. Consortium. A consortium is comprised of several VISNs in a particular 
geographic area that share resources and best practices, conduct program reviews and 
discuss common needs. While consortium CCCs are not required, VISNs are 
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encouraged to actively explore and plan with fellow VISNs within their respective 
consortium. For more information on CCC consortia, see the CCCM Guidebook 
available at: https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-
Clinical-Contact-Centers.aspx. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not 
available to the public. 

f. First Contact Resolution. FCR is the satisfaction of 
their initial contact with a CCC. Clinically meaningful FCR specifically refers to care 
during which CCC clinical staff have health needs 
in a clinically appropriate manner. 

g. Screening. Screening is when a predetermined question or series of questions 
are utilized to determine the Veteran request or concern and transfer to the appropriate 
level of care.

h. Virtual Care. Virtual care is any health care service provided to a Veteran 
remotely. Virtual care is conducted using telehealth and other mobile technologies.

i. Virtual Clinic Visits. Within CCCs, virtual clinic visits are health care 
appointments conducted by CCC providers to evaluate symptoms or health care 
concerns, determine course of care and address patient health care needs. Virtual clinic 
visits can be conducted via telephone, video or chat or authorized video communication 
platforms.

j. Weekend, Holiday, Evening, Night Hours. Weekend, Holiday, Evening, Night 
(WHEN) Hours are a period of the day outside of normal administrative hours during 
which CCCs or partner organization (e.g., Member Services) continue to meet CCC 
access and outcome expectations. 

4. POLICY 

It is VHA policy that Veterans receiving VA health care have access 24 hours a day, 
7 days a week to care via telephone and other virtual modalities to obtain clinical and 
administrative information, advice and services. This directive applies to CCC 
scheduling and administrative support, clinical triage, virtual clinic visits and pharmacy 
services. 

5. RESPONSIBILITIES 

a. Under Secretary for Health. The Under Secretary for Health is responsible for 
ensuring overall VHA compliance with this directive. 

b. Assistant Under Secretary for Health for Operations. The Assistant Under 
Secretary for Health for Operations is responsible for: 

(1) Supporting the VHA Access Office with implementation and oversight of this 
directive. 
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(2) Communicating the contents of this directive to each of the VISNs.

(3) Assisting VISN Directors to resolve implementation and compliance challenges in 
all VA medical facilities within that VISN. 

(4) Providing oversight of VISNs to ensure compliance with this directive and its 
effectiveness. 

(5) Promoting collaboration and strategic planning among national program offices 
(e.g., Office of Community Care, Office of Connected Care, Emergency Medicine, Office 
of Mental Health and Suicide Prevention, Office of Nursing Services, Pharmacy Benefits 
Management, Office of Primary Care) that can lead to CCC innovation and performance 
improvements such as: 

(a) Providing consultative guidance and communication to CCCs and CCC 
leadership on an ongoing basis. 

(b) Maintaining awareness of and communicating with national program office 
leadership regarding ongoing local CCC Quality Management (QM) findings and 
actions. 

c. Director, VA Office of Information and Technology. The Director, VA OIT has 
agreed to be responsible for: 

(1) Partnering with VISNs to acquire the necessary infrastructure to integrate and 
support alternate virtual modalities within CCCs. 

(2) Ensuring CCCs have the technical capacity to perform the core CCC services. 

(3) Ensuring appropriate technology solutions are in place to meet regular and high 
contact demand. 

(4) Collaborating with CCCs to ensure technology resources and capabilities support 
CCC programs and initiatives.

(5) Ensuring the CCC technological platforms are configured within vendor 
specifications, security baselines and VHA business requirements. 

d. Executive Director, VHA Access Office. The Executive Director, VHA Access 
Office is responsible for: 

(1) Providing ongoing consultative CCC guidance and communicating with senior 
VHA leadership on an ongoing basis. 

(2) Establishing, implementing, and maintaining Knowledge Management and 
Customer Relationship Management (CRM) systems for CCCs. 
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(3) Overseeing CCCs through implementation of the CCC QM Program. This 
includes: 

(4) Assessing VHA CCC efficiency and effectiveness based on QM metrics and 
established service criteria defined by the VHA Access Office. The metrics can be found 
at: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/:f:/r/sites/VHAClinContacts/Library%20Documents/Com
munications%20and%20Change%20Management/One-
pagers?csf=1&web=1&e=HgqwWO. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not 
available to the public. 

(a) Developing enterprise wide and VISN standardized reports through the use of 
the VA Health Connect CRM platform (and other quality technologies) for viewing and 
tracking CCC data, outcomes and trends.

(b) Providing a summary report, with findings and recommendations, to pertinent 
stakeholders (e.g., senior VHA leadership, the Contact Center Executive Advisory 
Board under the Veterans Experience Office (VEO), VISN Directors, VA medical facility 
Directors) at least once a year. 

(5) Identifying intersections with other VA and VHA program offices and initiatives. 

(6) Appointing members to the CCC Configuration Control Board (CCB). 

e. Chair, Clinical Contact Center Configuration Control Board. The Chair, CCC 
CCB is responsible for: 

(1) Leading and managing CCB, including but not limited to: chairing CCB meetings, 
publishing pre-read materials and the agenda, establishing and prioritizing the agenda, 
and overseeing communication of CCB decisions. 

(2) Escalating recommendations, decisions and issues to the VHA Access Office 
and other program offices as needed (e.g., VA Office of Information and Technology 
(OIT), VEO, Connected Care). 

(3) Managing enterprise-wide CCC technology configuration, and overseeing and 
providing guidance for technologies used within the CCC environment as stated in the 
CCC Configuration Control Board Charter: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/vhaovacstaff/Clinical*20Contact*20Centers/Forms/
AllItems.aspx?originalPath=aHR0cHM6Ly9kdmFnb3Yuc2hhcmVwb2ludC5jb20vOmI6L
3Mvdmhhb3ZhY3N0YWZmL0ViT1pvMU1CTnNoQ3FUcTljNVhyWEI4QnhwdEE0a0prN
EZiWXdEQVVJXzk5N0E*5FcnRpbWU9Ym9mc0dDUkMyVWc&id=*2Fsites*2Fvhaovac
staff*2FClinical*20Contact*20Centers*2FNational*20Guidance*2FService*20Delivery*2
FConfiguration*20Control*20Board__;JSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUl!!May37g!Z2cF2SAaTjFlB
SNlDTxUcRXD-yLwThoKFvrWeltKmzf87fN6dMhs6rNotJr_Bad-Kqs$. NOTE: This is an 
internal VA website that is not available to the public. The CCC Configuration Control 
Board is a part-time advisory board with rotating members appointed by the VHA 
Access Office leadership. 
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f. Veterans Integrated Services Network Directors. The VISN Directors are 
responsible for:

(1) Ensuring that all VA medical facilities within the VISN comply with this directive 
and informing leadership when barriers to compliance are identified. 

(2) Establishing and operating a CCC that delivers a coordinated system of diverse, 
dedicated, and VISN-aligned administrative and clinical professionals 24 hours a day, 7 
days a week; scheduling and administrative support; clinical triage; virtual clinic visits; 
and clinical pharmacy services and pharmacy support, accessible via a toll-free number. 
NOTE: As appropriate, VISNs may decide to partner with other VISNs to form 
consortium-based CCCs or work in partnership with other VHA entities to operate their 
CCCs. If operating as part of a consortium model, it is a shared responsibility for each 
VISN Director within that consortium.

(3) Ensuring CCC Directors employ dedicated individuals to staff the CCC. 

(4) Ensuring the CCC achieves identified performance and QM goals and outcomes 
as outlined under the CCC QM Framework One-pager: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/:f:/r/sites/VHAClinContacts/Library%20Documents/Com
munications%20and%20Change%20Management/One-
pagers?csf=1&web=1&e=HgqwWO. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not 
available to the public. 

(5) Ensuring the CCC employs the necessary contact management software, tools 
and processes necessary to collect CCC utilization and quality metrics. 

(6) Ensuring a clinically and administratively qualified CCC team member or 
employee reviews and escalates QM reports and incidents as outlined under the CCC 
QM Framework One-pager: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/:f:/r/sites/VHAClinContacts/Library%20Documents/Com
munications%20and%20Change%20Management/One-
pagers?csf=1&web=1&e=HgqwWO. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not 
available to the public. 

(7) Ensuring 24 hours a day, 7 days a week coverage of all four core services is 
available to meet performance targets as outlined in the Data and Metrics standard 
operating procedure (SOP). NOTE: The Data and Metrics Guidance can be found at: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-Clinical-Contact-
Centers.aspx. This is an internal VA website that is not available to the public. 

(8) Eliminating the use of voicemail within CCCs. NOTE: Ensuring dedicated staff 
are readily available to respond to incoming calls/contacts will reduce the number of 
abandoned calls and eliminate the need for voicemail. 

(9) Ensuring CCCs or other identified resources providing coverage to other CCCs 
(e.g., during WHEN hours) accept and act on all incoming calls or contacts in 
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accordance with the CCCM Guidebook. NOTE: Mechanisms must be in place to ensure
action and communication with appropriate team members. 

(10) Providing readily available resources (including people, processes and 
technology) to maintain adequate service levels to address CCC operations. NOTE: 
Refer to the CCCM Guidebook for assistance determining appropriate staffing levels, 
identifying contingency plans for managing surges or emergency situations and other 
useful information. The CCCM Guidebook is available at: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-Clinical-Contact-
Centers.aspx. This is an internal VA website that is not available to the public. 

(11) Ensuring contingency plans are in place to address incidents and events that 
require alternative arrangements to provide care to Veterans. 

g. Director, Clinical Contact Center. CCC Directors are responsible for:

(1) Ensuring operational oversight of CCC staff and providers. 

(2) Cooperating and collaborating with the VISN Director, VA medical facility Chief of 
Staff and VA medical facility Assistant Director for Patient Care Services (ADPCS) in 
the implementation and execution of CCC operations. 

(3) Employing VISN clinical staff and administrative staff who are dedicated to 
answering and managing incoming calls/contacts. 

(4) Routinely assessing ongoing strategic planning and improvement efforts to 
ensure adequate contact access and timely response to incoming contacts, regardless 
of modality (e.g., telephone, video, email) in accordance with the Data and Metrics 
Guidance: https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-
Clinical-Contact-Centers.aspx. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not 
available to the public. 

(5) Ensuring clinical staff handling calls/contacts document each encounter in the 
electronic health record (EHR) and any other program that directly interfaces with the 
EHR according to VHA Health Information Management (HIM) guidance. For additional 
information see HIM Practice Brief, Guidelines for Coding Clinical Care: Telephone 
Calls/Encounters at: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VACOVHAHDI/HIM/vaco_HIM/subsite5/subsite3/Pr
actice%20Briefs%20and%20Fact%20Sheets/Forms/AllItems.aspx?viewid=20394240%
2Dcce6%2D433e%2D98af%2D8b5aa0cf52e6&id=%2Fsites%2FVACOVHAHDI%2FHI
M%2Fvaco%5FHIM%2Fsubsite5%2Fsubsite3%2FPractice%20Briefs%20and%20Fact
%20Sheets%2FArchived%20%2D%20Past%20Versions. NOTE: This is an internal VA 
website that is not available to the public. 

(6) Ensuring a clinically and administratively qualified CCC team member reviews 
and escalates, with collaboration of the VISNs QM office, QM reports and incidents to 
the CCC Director and VISN Director as appropriate, as outlined the CCC QM 
Framework One-pager: 
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https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/:f:/r/sites/VHAClinContacts/Library%20Documents/Com
munications%20and%20Change%20Management/One-
pagers?csf=1&web=1&e=HgqwWO. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not 
available to the public. Peer review and other oversight groups must be involved, as 
necessary. 

(7) Executing VISN strategies on staffing and training to: 

(a) Ensure delivery 24 hours a day, 7 days a week of clinical triage, virtual clinic 
visits, clinical pharmacy services and pharmacy support and scheduling and 
administrative support; 

(b) Optimize FCR, Veteran experience and other performance metrics; and 

(c) Meet Veteran call/contact volume. The CCCM Guidebook provides the staffing 
requirements for CCCs: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-Clinical-Contact-
Centers.aspx. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not available to the public. 

(8) Establishing effective and efficient administrative and clinical interfaces (i.e., 
processes, procedures, SOPs and workflows). Important elements and examples of 
strong interface processes include: 

(a) Algorithms to achieve FCR by contact type  outline a process that clarifies how 
specific calls/contacts must be managed, including roles and responsibilities of involved 
staff (e.g., medication renewals, scheduling, clinical symptoms). 

(b) Scripting to standardize call/contact responses and processes that provide a 
level of flexibility to allow staff to tailor and personalize the interaction to better address 
the unique needs of each Veteran.

(c) Communication pathways between service lines to increase FCR, including 
outlining modalities for real-time and delayed communications. Pathways include 
mutually agreeable expectations to ensure access to and responses from all involved 
services with the proper prioritization in the continuum of care. 

(d) Identifying a process to ensure appropriate disposition of Veterans with mental 
health concerns, including completion of the 5-element screening process for non-crisis 
outpatient same-day access for mental health, as outlined in VHA Handbook 1160.01, 
Uniform Mental Health Services in VA Medical Centers and Clinics, dated September 
11, 2008. 

h. Clinical Contact Center Director, Supervisor and Manager. CCC Directors, 
Supervisors and Managers are responsible for: 

(1) Ensuring dedicated CCC staff are trained in accordance to the content in the 
CCCM Guidebook: 
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https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-Clinical-Contact-
Centers.aspx. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not available to the public. 

(2) Ensuring incoming calls/contacts are handled by appropriately trained staff to 
NOTE: Symptom-

related concerns must be managed by clinical staff with direct access to Veteran 
records regardless of time of day. 

(3) Ensuring VHA CCC health care professionals under their supervision are 
delivering care and services via the telephone and other contact modalities within their 
scope of practice and license, and in accordance with Federal laws, regulations, VHA 
policy and local SOPs. NOTE: Providing Veterans with appropriate access to clinical 
care is a VA health care service standard. 

(4) Ensuring clinical and administrative CCC team members adhere to all 
compliance, business integrity and business operations guidelines for effective CCC 
outcomes. 

i. Clinical Contact Center Providers, Pharmacists, Pharmacy Technicians and 
Medical Support Assistants. CCC Providers, Pharmacists, Pharmacy Technicians 
and Medical Support Assistants (MSAs) are responsible for: 

(1) Delivering care and services via the telephone and other contact modalities 
within their scope of practice and license, and in accordance with Federal laws, 
regulations, VHA policy and local SOPs. 

(2) Receiving escalated calls/contacts from administrative staff or other clinical staff 
who have screened the call for the appropriate level of care. 

(3) Following the clinical and administrative content found in the CCCM Guidebook: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-Clinical-Contact-
Centers.aspx. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not available to the public. 
This includes the clinical decision trees, call flows, trainings and QM program. 

j. Clinical Contact Center Registered Nurse. CCC RNs are responsible for: 

(1) Delivering care and services via the telephone and other contact modalities 
within their scope of practice and license, and in accordance with Federal laws, 
regulations, VHA policy and local SOPs. 

(2) Receiving inbound and escalated symptom calls/contacts from administrative 
staff or other clinical staff who have screened the call for the appropriate level- of- care. 
Calls will be answered in priority call-order and addressed in an efficient and expedited 
manner, to prevent delayed triage. Queuing Veteran calls for triage call-back at some 
time in the future is not permitted. NOTE: Each CCC may choose whether inbound 
clinical triage call/contacts are answered directly by RNs or screened first by MSAs. 
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(3) Following the clinical and administrative content found in the CCCM Guidebook: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-Clinical-Contact-
Centers.aspx. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not available to the public. 
This includes the clinical decision trees, call flows, trainings and QM program. 

k. VA Medical Facility Directors. VA medical facility Directors are responsible for: 

(1) Ensuring all VA medical facilities and Community-Based Outpatient Clinics 
(CBOCs) direct incoming pharmacy needs, appointment requests for appropriate 
services and general inquires typically addressed by an MSA to their respective CCC. 

s a day, 7 days a week 
capability to manage telephony and virtual care in real time, eliminating the need for 
voicemail and prevent repeated calls/contacts for the same issue. NOTE: VA medical 
facility Directors must ensure that VA medical facility staff are readily available to 

-up with Veterans, as needed. 

(2) Ensuring general onboarding, orientation and related activities are provided to 
CCC employees aligned to the VA medical facility. 

(3) Collaborating with the CCC to provide the necessary space and equipment as 
outlined in the CCC Space & Equipment Guidelines, available at: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/:f:/r/sites/VHAClinContacts/Library%20Documents/Staffin
g%20and%20Resources?csf=1&web=1&e=UAjmgU. NOTE: This is an internal VA 
website that is not available to the public. 

l. VA Medical Facility Chief of Staff or VA Medical Facility Associate Director 
for Patient Care Services. The VA medical facility Chief of Staff or VA medical facility 
ADPCS, depending on the VA medical facility, is responsible for coordinating with the 
VISN Director and CCC Director to ensure bi-directional communication channels are in 
place that support coordination and Veteran follow up by VA medical facility staff in 
response to CCC staff inquiries and vice versa. 

6. TRAINING 

Each CCC is required to use standardized training frameworks, checklists and 
competencies found in the CCCM Guidebook, to implement the national CCC training 
plan for both established CCC employees and new hires, allowing for customization to 
address local operational and QM needs. The CCCM Guidebook is accessible at: 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-Clinical-Contact-
Centers.aspx. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not available to the public. 

7. RECORDS MANAGEMENT 

All records regardless of format (e.g., paper, electronic, electronic systems) created 
by this directive must be managed as required by the National Archives and Records 
Administration (NARA) approved records schedules found in VHA Records Control 
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Schedule 10-1. Questions regarding any aspect of records management should be 
addressed to the appropriate Records Officer. 

8. REFERENCES 

a. 38 U.S.C § 7301(b). 

b. VHA Handbook 1160.01, Uniform Mental Health Services in VA Medical Centers 
and Clinics, dated September 11, 2008. 

c. VHA Memorandum 2021-03-09, Veterans Integrated Services Network (VISN) 
Clinical Contact Center Expectations and Next Steps, dated March 11, 2021. 
https://vaww.va.gov/vhapublications/publications.cfm?Pub=3. NOTE: This is an internal 
VA website that is not available to the public. 

d. CCC Configuration Control Board Charter. 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/vhaovacstaff/Clinical*20Contact*20Centers/Forms/
AllItems.aspx?originalPath=aHR0cHM6Ly9kdmFnb3Yuc2hhcmVwb2ludC5jb20vOmI6L
3Mvdmhhb3ZhY3N0YWZmL0ViT1pvMU1CTnNoQ3FUcTljNVhyWEI4QnhwdEE0a0prN
EZiWXdEQVVJXzk5N0E*5FcnRpbWU9Ym9mc0dDUkMyVWc&id=*2Fsites*2Fvhaovac
staff*2FClinical*20Contact*20Centers*2FNational*20Guidance*2FService*20Delivery*2
FConfiguration*20Control*20Board__;JSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUl!!May37g!Z2cF2SAaTjFlB
SNlDTxUcRXD-yLwThoKFvrWeltKmzf87fN6dMhs6rNotJr_Bad-Kqs$. NOTE: This is an 
internal VA website that is not available to the public. 

e. CCCM Guidebook. 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-Clinical-Contact-
Centers.aspx. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not available to the public. 

f. CCC QM Framework One-pager. 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/:f:/r/sites/VHAClinContacts/Library%20Documents/Com
munications%20and%20Change%20Management/One-
pagers?csf=1&web=1&e=HgqwWO. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not 
available to the public. 

g. CCC Space and Equipment Guidelines. 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/:f:/r/sites/VHAClinContacts/Library%20Documents/Staffin
g%20and%20Resources?csf=1&web=1&e=UAjmgU. NOTE: This is an internal VA 
website that is not available to the public. 

h. Data and Metrics Guidance (under Operational and Clinical Guidance): 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VHAClinContacts/SitePages/VHA-Clinical-Contact-
Centers.aspx. NOTE: This is an internal VA website that is not available to the public. 

i. HIM Practice Brief. Guidelines for Coding Clinical Care: Telephone 
Calls/Encounters. 
https://dvagov.sharepoint.com/sites/VACOVHAHDI/HIM/vaco_HIM/subsite5/subsite3/Pr
actice%20Briefs%20and%20Fact%20Sheets/Forms/AllItems.aspx?viewid=20394240%
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2Dcce6%2D433e%2D98af%2D8b5aa0cf52e6&id=%2Fsites%2FVACOVHAHDI%2FHI
M%2Fvaco%5FHIM%2Fsubsite5%2Fsubsite3%2FPractice%20Briefs%20and%20Fact
%20Sheets%2FArchived%20%2D%20Past%20Versions. NOTE: This is an internal VA 
website that is not available to the public. 
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DEPARTMENT OF      MEMORANDUM 
VETERANS AFFAIRS 
  
 
DATE:           September 2, 2021 
 
FROM: Chief, VISN 5 Employee/Labor Relations 
 
TO:  President, AFGE Local 2198      
 
 
SUBJ: VA Health Connect Contact Center Realignment 
 
 
1. In accordance with the relevant Articles of the Union contracts, this memorandum is 
to serve as official notification. 

 
2. Please be advised, effective no sooner that 30 calendar days following receipt of this 
notification the VA Health Connect Contact Center will be consolidated and realigned to 
report to the Capitol Health Care Network (VISN 5). The following bargaining unit 
employees assigned to your local will be affected by this change: 
 
Employee   Position   Grade 
 
Suszanne Bowles  Nurse    VN-02   
Robin Parsons  Nurse    VN-02 
Matthew Mullins  Nurse    VN-02   
Donna Scott   Nurse    VN-02 
Kimberly Mcdaniel  Nurse    VN-02  
Rice, Donna   Nurse    VN-02  
Rhodes, Mildred  Nurse    VN-03  
Ray, Deandra  Nurse    VN-02  
Fox, Pamela   Nurse    VN-02   
Jones, James  Nurse    VN-02   
Formato, Peter  Nurse    VN-01  
Simmons, Suzanne  Nurse    VN-02  
Spence, Gloria  Nurse    VN-02  
Moye, Aleisa   Nurse    VN-01  
Tate, Carol   Nurse    VN-03  
Cullop, JoDonna  Nurse    VN-01  
Fowler, Eva   Nurse    VN-02  
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Lacy, Phyllis Nurse VN-02
Oakley, Rebecca  Nurse    VN-02  
Cox, Brian   Nurse    VN-02  
Craig, Cathryn  Nurse    VN-02  
Lawson, Pennie  Nurse    VN-02  
Allen, David   Nurse    VN-02  
Adamson, Patricia   Administrative Specialist GS-9  
Carol Stover   MSA    GS-5  
Brian Osborn   MSA    GS-5  
  
3.  This realignment will not affect the employee s duties or workplace at this time. 
 
4.   Please be advised since this change is affecting multiple bargaining unit employees 
reporting to several Unions and locals, we will be seeking a unit clarification from the 
FLRA. 
 
5.  If you have any questions concerning the content of this memorandum, please 
contact me, at extension (304) 263-0811, ext. 7740. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosures: 
 

1. Memo: Calabrio Quality Assurance Platform: Installation and Use by VHA Clinical 
Contact Centers 
 

2. CCC Q&A with VACO LMR 
 

3. Memo: Customer Relationship Management Platform: Installation and Use by 
VHA Clinical Contact Centers 



1. The purpose of this memorandum is to provide guidance on VISN Clinical Contact 
Center Expectations and Next Steps. Veterans Health Administration (VHA) Office of 
Veterans Access to Care (OVAC) is leading a modernization of Clinical Contact 
Centers (CCCs) across the organization (Attachment A).  By December 31, 2021, 
each VISN is expected to have a centralized, operational, and integrated CCC to 
optimize virtual care delivery and promote Veterans’ safety.  
 

2. CCCs must be established at the VISN level or higher (i.e., Consortium) to deliver 
enhanced access to virtual care and services, maximize first contact resolution for 
Veterans, support positive health outcomes in the continuum of care, and provide an 
improved Veteran experience. VISNs may partner with other VISNs or Consortia and 
other VHA partners, such as Member Services, to fulfill CCC requirements.  

 
3. With embedded staff, CCCs will provide Veterans the following four services 24 hours 

a day, seven days a week, including holidays:  
 

i. Clinical triage for evaluation of symptoms and disposition of health care 
concerns 

ii. Virtual clinic visits with CCC providers for urgent and episodic care needs 
iii. Pharmacy support to address all medication-related matters 
iv. Appointment scheduling and general inquiries 

 
4. Serving as an extension of Veterans’ facility-based health care teams (VA medical 

center, Community-Based Outpatient Clinic or other Department of Veterans Affairs 
health care facilities), CCC staff document encounters in patients’ electronic health 
records and coordinate with facility health care providers and teams to promote 
continuity, care coordination and management, and appropriate follow-up. 
 

5. Similar to in-person urgent care visits, CCCs must be prepared to address any 
presenting concerns, including those related to mental health and suicide prevention. 
CCCs are required to have an identified process in place to ensure appropriate 
disposition of Veterans with mental health concerns, including completion of the 5- 

Department of  
Veterans Affairs Memorandum 

Date: 
 
March 11, 2021

From: Assistant Under Secretary for Health for Operations (15)

Subj: Veterans Integrated Service Network (VISN) Clinical Contact Center 
Expectations and Next Steps (VIEWS #04320748)

To: VISN Directors (10N1-23)
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Veterans Integrated Service Network (VISN) Clinical Contact Center Expectations and 
Next Steps 

element screening process for non-crisis outpatient access for mental health
requests, either through nurse triage and/or warm handoff to facility mental health as 
defined by VHA Handbook 1160.01; and memorandum dated March 15, 2018, 
Eliminating Veteran Suicide: Enhancing Mental Health Access through Online Direct 
Scheduling and Warm Hand-off Consult Management (Attachment B).

6. OVAC has formed a CCC Integrated Project Team (IPT), consisting of the VISN-
nominated CCC Clinical and Administrative Leads, CCC Modernization Leadership, 
and subject matter experts. The IPT, which meets twice monthly, serves as a forum 
for CCC-related information sharing, status updates, and questions. 

7. Throughout August and September 2020, OVAC required each VISN to work with a 
support team to conduct Current/Future State Assessments, which helped gauge
VISN readiness and confidence to achieve the 2021 goal outlined above and identify 
additional support needed. Data entry and assessment results are available through 
the CCC Integrated Operating Platform at the following link:
https://r03cleapp06.r03.med.va.gov/hub2/cccm/index.html.  

8. OVAC is currently developing a VHA directive outlining CCC responsibilities and 
requirements, to be tentatively published in November 2021. Additional guidance and 
resources for VISN CCC implementation are available in the CCC Modernization
Guidebook, which was published in October 2020 and can be accessed at the 
following link: 
http://r03cleapp06.r03.med.va.gov/hub2/app/cccm/library/record/visit?id=112421.  

9. Should you have questions, please send an email to VHACCCM@va.gov.

for
Renee Oshinski

Attachments
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*Please contact (Charles.Arrington@va.gov) , Labor Relations Specialist for VACO LMR for any 
follow-up questions or comments. 

Q1. What are the VA unions representing RNs, MSAs, and LIPs?
o A. There are 4 National Unions and dozens of local Unions within the VA. WMC should have better specifics 

about the occupations that you are looking into since they are the LMR data collection and servicing office 
for VHA. The 4 National Unions are AFGE, NAGE, NNU, NFFE. The other Local Unions include SEIU, 
Teamsters, and many others. 

Q2. Is it not better for union notification for CCC modernization to occur on a VA level as opposed to individual VISN 
notification? 

o A. The problem with a National level approach to Unions is that it would still need to account/ acquire all of 
the particulars for the Local unions. This would require all VISNs to provide a list all of the effected 
VAMCs/CBOCs, employees, BUE status, the Local Union Contact, the change in each individual employees 
change in condition of employment (to include reports to). All of those specifics (and then some) would have 
to be known at the National Level for LMR to engage the Unions. We would also then have to engage the 
National Unions individually as well, so instead of one briefing Locally there would be 4+ Nationally with all 
of the specifics. This would be very labor intensive and prevent expedience. It would also give the Unions 
dozens if not hundreds of individual points to negotiate or hammer out. Holding up the process at every 
single site or facility, instead of the single or handful actually effected.     

Q3. Who owns the responsibility for meeting with Unions about the new requirements, when should the 
conversations start, and is there a memo template we should use to kickstart discussions?

o A. The responsibility for a bargaining obligation falls on the Agency as a whole and where and whom the 
This is a very specific situation that calls for precision and 

detail. To take a shotgun approach here could bog your department and initiative down for an unnecessary 
period of time (possibly indefinitely). For the reasons listed in Question 2, it would be nearly impossible to 
be driven from the top for the Labor Relations aspect.

Q4. How are we supposed to run a VISN- unions (and what does local even mean in terms of 
tele/virtual staff?)? If there was VISN-level union representation, that would be a more manageable situation. In 
short, I think national LMR should push down guidance/directives stating that VISN-
bound to unions that specifically cover at the VISN level (clearly if there is no VISN level union representation 

o A. The FLRA is the only convening authority that can decide where and who makes up a bargaining unit (5 
USC 7111 & 7112).



Union Q&A
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o Union representation is solely the employees right (5 USC 7102). The Department would be violating the 
Federal Service Labor Management Relations Statute if it in any way promoted or deterred employees from 
their right to belong to or not belong to a labor organization. We would also be in violation if we were to 
promote any one Union over the other. General rule of thumb is to stay completely away from infringing on 
the em

o The only current obligation that the Department has it to notify the Bargaining unit employees specifically, 
and their specific Unions. It is understood that Unions only represent their certified bargaining units (as per 
the FLRA and 5 USC 7111 & 7112). If there are questions in this area every VISN should have an LR point of 
contact that can assist. If you believe that your POC is not aware of this, have them reach out to VACO LMR 
for clarification.

Q5. Will Labor negotiations occur on national level since this is a national initiative with national requirements and 
timeline which will require realignment if staff from facilities to VISN or Consortia level?

o Unfortunately, because of VACO LMR current Master Agreements that will need to be done locally.

Q6. I would appreciate an update on telework and managements limits on allowing staff to telework as well as 

o A. VACO LMR only deals with the Labor relations aspect of telework. The actual telework program and the 
overarching VA handbook and Directive 5011 (Hours of Duty and Leave) falls under the larger HR&A Office. 
The head of that office is Dan Sitterly, and the Deputy is Tracey Therit. Telework within the Labor Relations 
realm is a management right. Recently there has been case law establishing this point. 

o In the LMR world, management generally has no limits on sending employees home to telework or bringing 
them back to the office. This statement does not mean that employees RA requests or other possible 
scenarios that may have led or be a reason for an employee to be on a telework agreement does not limit 
what management must take into account, nor does it mean the employee or Union will be happy with 
Management exercising its right. Those individual cases would need to be evaluated by your Local RA or 
regional OGC, as appropriate.

Q7. Do union contracts allow delayed listening and scoring of recorded CCC calls for QA purposes not disciplinary 
purposes?

o A. Unfortunately, this is a complex that requires more specificity. There are @100+ Union contracts in the 
VA. Please email LMR with details of local unions for a full answer, however generally, the Department has 
the right to monitor their employees.

Q8. Are there any LMR directives on silent monitoring and quality assurance for CCC staff?
o A. No, there are no such Directives within the LMR office (as this is not the LMR area of expertise). Our work 

product would be to 
Labor statutes, regulations, or contractual provisions. Not completely understanding which specific Unions 
you are speaking to on this (contractual provision may apply), LMR is aware that generally the Department 
has the right to monitor employees, period. This right does not concern itself with whether it is for QA, 
boredom, or discipline, all that matters is that you are monitoring/supervising your workforce and their 
product/conduct.
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Q9. Will process used in VHA HR Consolidation for labor negotiations/discussions also be used for the VHA CCC 
Modernization?

o HR consolidation contained no BUEs, so no this will not be the same.

Q10. Who will notify the various unions of the shift to a VISN Clinical Contact Center?
o According to the Master Agreements, unions must be notified locally. 

Q11. When will employees be notified of the change, and by whom?
o According to the Master Agreements that would generally be within 30 days of the change and led by Local 

HR/Management.

Q12. How much lead time will the unions be given (as each union has different requirements)?
o Generally, 30 days.

Q13. Will a package be submitted to the unions to include employees affected, new functional statements, hours of 
operation, org charts, etc.  

o Generally, that would be appropriate.
o

Q14. The 24/7 CCC operation may cause a need for employees work hours to include the possibility of now having 
the flexibility to work eve/nights, weekend, holidays, etc.  How will that be addressed?

o IAW Master Agreements.

Q15. Does the union have the option to not agree with the changes, or is this mandatory and our discussion is 
associated with realignment of resources?

o Unfortunately, the devils are in the details in this. Please contact VACO LMR if specific questions or problems 
arise locally. 

Q16. Will all position descriptions/functional statements be confirmed as a requirement or LMR in each VISN have to 
discuss with the union?

o Generally, the Unions will want this to be provided.

Q17. Will staff working virtually need to be approved by the union?
o No

Q18. Is it possible for the national LMR to provide a template to use that is tailored to the individual VISN?
o A. This pertains to quality assurance and silent monitoring. There will likely be a directive to that topic and 

Document published September 2020. For the most current documents and guidance, visit the CCC SharePoint.
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